Potential risk factors for chronic musculoskeletal complaints in a general population. The HUNT-study.

by

Synnøve Kvalheim



Thesis submitted for the degree of

Philosophiae Doctor

Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

FORMI and Department of Neurology, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevaal

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevaal

Norway

March 2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

ABBREVIATIONS

SUMMARY IN ENGLISH

SUMMARY IN NORWEGIAN (SAMMENDRAG PÅ NORSK)

LIST OF PAPERS

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

- 1.2 Diagnosis and classifications of musculoskeletal complaints (MSCs)
- 1.3 Diagnosis and classification of chronic MSCs and chronic widespread musculoskeletal complaints

(WMSCs)

- 1.4 Impact and consequences of chronic MSCs and WMSCs
- 1.5 Epidemiological designs
- 1.6 Validity
- 2. AIMS OF THE STUDY/THESIS
- 3. MATERIAL AND METHODS
- 3.1 Study population

3.2 Outcome measure

- 3.3 Confounders and risk factors
- 3.4 Statistics and data processing

4. SUMMARY OF RESULTS

- 4.1 Paper 1
- 4.2 Paper 2
- 4.3 Paper 3

5. METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

- 5.1 Designs
- 5.2 External validity
- 5.3 Internal validity
- 5.4 Statistical approach
- 5.5 Ethical considerations

6. DISCUSSION

7. CONCLUSIONS

8. REFERENCES

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work has been carried out at the Department of Neurology and FORMI, Oslo University Hospital and Institute of clinical medicine, University of Oslo. The study was supported by a grant from the EXTRA funds from the Norwegian Foundation for Health and Rehabilitation through the Norwegian Low Back Pain Association.

First, I want express my gratitude to my main supervisor Professor John-Anker Zwart for his initiative to this study. I am grateful for his guidance and support, and his great enthusiasm. I appreciate his immediate response to my calls or e-mails, either to arrange a meeting, or to give some supervision directly by phone.

I would like to thank my co-supervisor Knut Hagen who is Professor at Department of Neuroscience, Norwegian University of Science and Technology in Trondheim, for his guidance and support by mail or phone. Many thanks for his prompt responses.

My grateful thanks to Professor Cecilie Røe, Head of the Department Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, who gave me the opportunity to have a leave of absence from my usual working place, and thereupon facilitated for the final working period in particular.

Many thanks to my colleague Bendik Winsvold, being ahead of me in the track towards PhD, for his assistance, guidance and the useful discussions we had.

I am very grateful to Irene Sandven, Master of Public Health at Department of Biostatistics, Oslo University Hospital for her thorough statistical assistance and guidance for paper 1.

I would also like to show my gratitude to Professor Leiv Sandvik, Department of Biostatistics, Oslo University Hospital, for the statistical assistance for paper 2 and 3. We had some additional conversations, about mathematics and life in general, that definitely were interesting. I want to give my sincere gratitude to my parents for my academic background and their everlasting love and support. Thanks to family and friends for all the encouragement they have given me throughout these years, and special thanks to a life-long friend, Professor Mohamed Abdullah for proofreading some of my manuscripts.

Finally, heartfelt thanks to Frode for his patience and love.

Oslo, March 2016

LIST OF PAPERS

1. Kvalheim S, Sandven I, Hagen K, Zwart JA.

Smoking as a risk factor for chronic musculoskeletal complaints is influenced by age. The HUNT Study. PAIN 2013;154:1073-1079.

2. Kvalheim S, Sandvik L, Winsvold B, Hagen K, Zwart JA.

Early menarche and chronic widespread musculoskeletal complaints- Results from the HUNT study.

European Journal of Pain. 2016 Mar;20(3):458-64. doi: 10.1002/ejp.747. Epub 2015 Jul 1.

3. Kvalheim S, Sandvik L, Hagen K, Zwart JA. Oral contraceptives and Chronic Widespread Musculoskeletal Complaints - Cross sectional results from the HUNT Study.

Submitted.

ABBREVIATIONS

- ACR American College of Rheumatology
- BMI body mass index
- CI confidence interval
- HADS Hospital Anxiety and depression scale
- HPA hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
- HUNT Helseundersøkelsen i Nord-Trøndelag
- IASP The International Association for the Study of Pain
- MSCs Musculoskeletal complaints
- OCs oral contraceptives
- SES socioeconomic status
- WMSCs Widespread Musculoskeletal complaints

SUMMARY

Musculoskeletal complaints (MSCs) are some of the most frequent causes for disability, work absence and long-term sick leaves and represent an important economic burden to society. The total burden of MSCs is huge and risk factors are of major interest to explore. The cause of musculoskeletal disorders is multifactorial, and some risk factors are well known. However, the causes and mechanisms remain unknown, and improved prevention and management of MSCs disability are required. Therefore, further research of potential risk factors, predictors and clinical course of MSCs is still warranted.

The aim of this study was to explore potential risk factors for chronic MSCs and chronic widespread musculoskeletal complaints (WMSCs). We used information from the health surveys in Nord-Trøndelag (HUNT), with data from HUNT 2(1995-1997) and HUNT 3 (2006-2008). We explored smoking as a potential risk factor for chronic MSCs later in life, based on the 11 years follow-up period between HUNT 2 and HUNT 3. Based on cross-sectional studies from HUNT 2, we explored the association between age at menarche and chronic WMSCs (paper 2) and the association between the use of oral contraceptives (OCs) and chronic WMSCs (paper 3). The cross-sectional studies described in paper 2 and paper 3, comprised only female participants in HUNT 2.

Regression analyses were used to assess the associations, with adjustment for potential confounders and assessment of potential effect modification.

The results in paper 1 show that smoking at baseline represents a 20% increased risk for chronic MSCs at follow-up for those less than 50 yrs.

In paper 2 there was an association between early age at menarche and chronic WMSCs later in life, but the difference in absolute risk was low (3%).

In paper 3 there was an association between previous use of OCs and chronic WMSCs, most evident in women younger than 39 yrs. Current use of OCs was not associated with chronic WMSCs.

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Musculoskeletal complaints (MSCs) are highly prevalent in western communities and a major public health problem as one of the most frequent causes for disability, work absence and long-term sick leaves (1-3).

In Norway, MSCs are the most frequent medical cause for sick leave, contributing to about one third of long term work disability (http://www.formi.no/images/uploads/pdf/rapport_mussp_online.pdf). 75-80% of a Norwegian adult population experience musculoskeletal pain during a one month period (1) . There are more women than men reporting MSCs and the prevalence increases with age (1, 4, 5). Complaints of the musculoskeletal system comprise a wide range of different diseases associated with pain and varying degrees of disability. Generally, most of MSCs are minor complaints which do not affect work participation or activities of daily life to a substantial degree. However, in Norwegian health surveys, about half of the adult population reports long-lasting MSCs, i.e. lasting more than 3 months (6, 7). The most common complaints are back pain, neck and shoulder pain. Localised, single site pain, is less common and has demonstrated little impact on physical fitness and daily activities. Most of the individuals with musculoskeletal pain report pain from a number of sites. Approximately 10% have localised pain, and 40% suffers from multiple pain sites (8). There is an association between number of pain sites and the degree of disability (1), and the impact is highly dependent on how widespread the pain is and the number of pain sites (8).

Similar patterns are observed in studies conducted in other western countries, as in the Norwegian health surveys (4, 9-12). Due to ageing, the overall load of MSCs is increasing throughout the world. Over the span of 20 years from 1990 to 2010, MSCs have been among the main contributors to the disability burden in high-income countries. Consequently, MSCs represent an important economic

burden to society and the total burden of MSCs is huge and risk factors are accordingly of major interest to map and explore.

Epidemiological studies have been important to identify several potential risk factors. The cause of musculoskeletal disorders is clearly multifactorial, and some risk factors are well known and undisputable. However, the causes and mechanisms remain unknown, and improved prevention and management of disabilities due to MSCs are required. Therefore, further research of potential risk factors, predictors and clinical course of MSCs is still warranted.

In this thesis potential risk factors for MSCs were explored, based on epidemiological data from the largest population based health survey in Norway, "Helseundersøkelsen i Nord Trøndelag (HUNT)".

1.2 Diagnosis and classifications of musculoskeletal complaints (MSCs)

MSCs are not a clearly defined entity or diagnosis and there is no single case-definition. Commonly used terminology for musculoskeletal symptoms include musculoskeletal pain, disorders, complaints, conditions or diseases. MSCs comprise of a whole variety of diagnoses and discomfort in the musculoskeletal system, and are usually characterised by pain and/or stiffness in the joints or muscles and loss of function either localised or widespread.

Pain is a subjective experience and not an objectively measureable symptom. The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) defined pain as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential damage or described in terms of such damage". Chronic pain may arise from an initial injury, or there may be an ongoing cause, such as illness. There may also be no clear cause. In general, there are no specific laboratory tests or objective measures for the diagnosis of MSCs. However, underlying conditions like rheumatologic diseases, osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, and other conditions which might contribute to MSCs, are usually diagnosed and classified by objective findings and measures. The diagnosis of MSCs is based on self-report. The frequency of MSCs in the general population has usually been assessed by use of Health Interview Survey (HIS) and Health Examination Survey (HES). As both techniques are poorly standardised, the reported occurrence of MSCs in a general population is varying substantially and, as a consequence, the comparison of data pertaining to different populations and countries is hampered. Uniform diagnostic criteria for MSCs are still warranted for the evaluation and comparability of studies.

Disease occurrence is commonly measured as incidence (first ever occurrence or onset of a condition) or prevalence (presence of a condition). Prevalence may be measured at one point of time, or over a defined period of time. There are significant variations in how prevalence and incidence are reported. It is difficult to assess the real frequency of MSCs which, in part, is a consequence of case-definition uncertainties and differences in the methods adopted in the epidemiological studies.

In the Norwegian study of HUNT 2, the incidence of MSCs lasting at least 15 days during the past month, was 7.9 % and the age-adjusted prevalence of chronic MSCs was 44.8 % (12). In HUNT 3, the age-adjusted prevalence of chronic MSCs was 47.9 %.

1.3 Diagnosis and classification of chronic MSCs and chronic widespread musculoskeletal complaints (WMSCs)

MSCs might be regarded as a continuum from localised to widespread pain (9, 13). Widespread musculoskeletal pain conditions are characterised by a gradual onset followed by a complex episodic course with remittance and recurrence of pain symptoms, and often established by early adult life (9).

Chronic MSCs and WMSCs are most commonly defined as lasting more than 12 weeks. However, the definition of chronic varies significantly. According to the definition given by Bonica, chronic pain is pain that persists beyond the time one would expect normal healing to occur (14). This definition involves different, and more or less arbitrarily, specified duration of pain. Therefore, different

(epidemiological) studies might present alternative definitions as there is discrepancy on what that duration should be. An argument has been made that the term "persistent pain" should be used in lieu of "chronic pain" (15).

Chronic widespread pain and fibromyalgia are regarded as generalised musculoskeletal pain syndromes. WMSCs are the clinical hallmark of fibromyalgia. Several argue that it is most reasonable to regard fibromyalgia as a continuum of chronic widespread pain, rather than a distinct diagnostic entity. According to the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) 1990 criteria, fibromyalgia is defined as pain that is bilateral, above and below the waist, in the axial skeleton and lasts for at least 3 months. The case definition of fibromyalgia has changed somewhat with increasing recognition of the importance of cognitive problems and somatic symptoms. These factors were not considered in the 1990 ACR classification criteria .The preliminary new ACR criteria for fibromyalgia remove the requirement for tender points and provide a measure based on a continuum of symptoms rather than a distinct cut-off point (16, 17). This might lead to a new basis for longitudinal studies in this area, and, subsequently, new estimates of the burden of generalised musculoskeletal pain syndromes. There is still controversy around the criteria of fibromyalgia.

As for many common musculoskeletal conditions, generalised musculoskeletal pain conditions have significant variations in case definitions that have been used in epidemiological studies. Therefore, the reported occurrence of WMSCs varies in different studies of general population. Prevalence is, though, the preferred measure in the context of generalised musculoskeletal pain conditions (9) as it is debatable whether measures of incidence capture initial onset of the condition or the onset of a new episode of an already prevalent condition. The prevalence of fibromyalgia in Western countries is reportedly 3-5%, with a significant female predominance. However, the prevalence of WMSCs has a range from 11.4% to 24% (11). When it comes to the reported prevalence of fibromyalgia in Norway, there is a span between 1 and 10 % (18, 19).

In HUNT 2 the age-adjusted prevalence of chronic MSCs was 44.8 % and 22.0 % for chronic WMSCs. In HUNT 3, the age-adjusted prevalence of chronic MSCs was 47.9 % and 23.6 % for chronic WMSCs.

1.4 Impact and consequences of chronic MSCs and WMSCs

MSCs are the most common cause of severe long term pain and physical disability, affecting many individuals physically and psychosocially. Chronic MSCs might lead to withdrawal from social life and work life and impose severe financial burdens on many levels: Costs of healthcare services and medication, job absenteeism and disruption in the workplace, loss of income, financial burden on family, friends and employers, worker compensation costs and welfare payments.

The impact of musculoskeletal conditions has been appreciated by the World Health Organization (WHO) and highlighted in The Bone and Joint Decade initiative (2000–2010) (20, 21). Chronic MSCs are not directly related to high mortality (22, 23) but still give a major contribution to the burden of disease and perceived health. While acute pain is by definition a brief and self-limiting process, chronic pain has a severe impact on quality of life of the pain sufferer and those around. Chronic pain patients report a lower quality of life than the general population (24). An association between chronic MSCs/WMSCs and poor health related quality of life (HRQoL) has also been clearly demonstrated (25, 26). Sleep deprivation, depression, reduced physical activity and inactivity, are common consequences of chronic pain as well as being possible risk factors and contributors to pain. These factors might be important in the explanation of increased morbidity and indirectly increased mortality as they might be common or underlying risk factor for other diseases (27, 28).

In most countries, MSCs constitute up to 10–20% of primary care consultations and are the second most common reason for consulting a doctor. MSCs are the reason for almost 20% of all health care utilization (29, 30). In a Swedish study from 1996, MSCs were the most expensive disease category,

representing 22.6% of the total cost of illness. The conclusion of a Norwegian report about MSCs says that there has been almost a doubling of the total societal costs based on a comparison of the statistical numbers from 2004 and 2009, even though the prevalence remains relatively unchanged. The greatest costs are the indirect costs related to job absenteeism and loss of productivity.

For 2014, The Statistics Norway report that diseases of the musculoskeletal system were the type of conditions that women were most often treated for in general hospitals. Among men, these diseases were the second most frequent reason for treatment, after injuries. One in six patients received treatment for a disease of the musculoskeletal system in 2014, whereof a substantial share are young women (http://www.ssb.no/helse/statistikker/pasient/aar).

The impact of chronic MSCs and WMSCs on individuals and society is expected to increase dramatically due to ageing, increased obesity and reduced physical activity of the world's population. From 1990 to 2010, MSCs have been one of the main contributors to the disability burden in high-income countries and there is a rapid increase in regions with low- and middle income. Measured by age-standardised years lived with disability (YLD), there has been more than 10% increase during this period, and MSCs cause 21.3% of the total years lived with disability, globally. There is a rapid increase in regions with low- and middle-income. Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) count how many years of healthy life are lost due to death and non-fatal illness or impairment, and are an absolute measure of health loss. Disability-adjusted life years represent a health gap; they measure the state of a population's health compared to a normative goal for individuals which is to live the standard life expectancy in full health. In 2010, musculoskeletal disorders counted for 169624' (thousands) disability-adjusted life years globally, for all ages, both sexes combined, representing 6.7% of the total global disability-adjusted life years (3, 31, 32).

Globally, the highest incidence within MSCs has been found for low back pain. Low back pain yield the highest years lived with disability among 291 diseases and injuries evaluated in the Global Burden of Disease 2010 Study (3, 31). In Norway, low back disorders were the most common reason for people claiming disability pensions (National Insurance Administration. Oslo: Norway; 1998 available from:

URL: <u>http://www.trygdeetaten.no/</u>), and MSCs in general represented 42% of all sick leave days in 2009. Chronic WMSCs/ fibromyalgia caused 5.4 % of permanent work disability in Norway in 2006. In several regions of the world, notably in developing countries, the prevalence and impact of MSCs are not available. As a consequence of these uncertainties, the true global impact of MSCs is not known.

1.5 Epidemiological designs

Analytic (Exploratory) epidemiology

In an analytic study design, the purpose is to explicitly assess if a certain exposure is a risk factor for the outcome/disease of interest. The analytic study design can be divided into observational or interventional study designs. In an observational study, the investigator only observes the natural course of event whereas the investigator allocates the exposure in interventional study designs.

Observational studies can be divided into case-control and cohort or follow-up studies.

Cohort study

The English word *cohort* comes from the Latin word *cohors*, which meant "an enclosed area" or "a pen or courtyard enclosing a group of cattle or poultry". By extension, the word could refer to any group in general and in particular to a company of soldiers or a troop of cavalry in the army of ancient Rome. In epidemiology, a cohort is defined as "a designated group of individuals who are followed or traced over a period of time" (33). A cohort study, which is regarded as the archetype for all epidemiological studies, involves measuring occurrence of disease within one or more cohorts. The cohort comprises of persons with a common characteristic, defined by their exposure status. The aim is to follow the defined cohort(s) through time to identify the outcome of interest and determine if the initial exposure status influences the risk of subsequent disease. There are prospective and retrospective (historical) cohort studies, defined by the timing of data collecting. In a prospective cohort study, the exposure may or may not have occurred when initiating the study, and the subjects are followed to determine the event of interest (disease/outcome). The outcome has not occurred when initiating the study with a prospective design. In a retrospective cohort study, all the relevant events are identified from recorded data i.e. both exposures and events have already occurred at the start of the study. In a retrospective cohort study, information of potentially confounding factors not already collected is very difficult or impossible to attain. The advantage is that such a study is faster, as the data has been collected, and accordingly to a lower cost. In a cohort investigation of diseases with long latency periods from exposure to disease occurrence, a retrospective study is considered particularly efficient.

A general population cohort study is feasible when common exposures are to be studied. In a study setting where a substantial proportion of a general population has been exposed to the factors of interest, the cohort does not have to be identified by the status of exposure. After a general population cohort is assembled, the cohort members can be classified according to the factors of potential interest already identified as prevalent/common exposures.

A cohort study is a longitudinal study which is defined by the data pertaining from different time points, where exposure information refers to a time point prior to the outcome/disease occurrence. The longitudinal design is therefore based on one of the premises for causality, namely temporality, where exposure has to come before the consequence/ the subsequent disease (34, 35).

In general, a cohort study has the strength of minimizing selection bias. However, if the knowledge of disease affects the selection or classification of exposed and non-exposed subjects, selection bias may be introduced to the study.

The cohort study design has the potential bias of losses to follow up which can affect the validity of the study (34, 36, 37).

Cross-sectional study

A cross-sectional study design is based on data of current disease status and exposure status and is the method of determining the prevalence of an outcome/disease. Generally, it has the advantage of being less time-consuming and may be relatively inexpensive to conduct. The main disadvantage is the lack of temporality, and consequently, a cross-sectional study is not appropriate to assess causality. However, cross-sectional data is occasionally used when they are considered to be a good proxy for longitudinal data. Sometimes, the current exposure status can be regarded as a good measurement of earlier exposure status. In cases where the exposure is a constant, i.e. tissue antigens or blood type, the study might be regarded as a longitudinal design.

1.6 Validity

A measure is valid if it measures what it tends to measure. A valid association is present if it reflects a true association between the exposure and the outcome. Validity has to be assessed based on other alternative explanations to the association. The alternative explanations are chance, bias and confounding.

Chance: To assess whether the association might be due to chance, the sample size is very important as it inflicts the interpretation of a significant p-value. In large sample sizes, the confidence interval is more informative because it shows the variability of the effect estimate.

Bias: Bias is a systematic error due to difference in selection, information, reporting and exposure. Bias is to be reported but not possible to adjust for. The design or conduct of a study might introduce a systematic error, or bias, to the study. If cases and controls are selected differently, for example related to their exposure status, a selection bias is most likely introduced. Similarly, if the way the information is obtained differs between the groups, an information bias might be introduced. Information bias (misclassification) is an important source of bias in cohort studies. To avoid differential misclassification, one have to be certain that the outcome registration is not affected/influenced by the exposure. Misclassification refers to errors in the categorization of either exposure or disease status. Such errors are inevitable in any study, but the consequences of this type of bias depend on whether the misclassification with respect to one axis is or is not dependent of the classification of the other axis. If these misclassifications are independent of each other, i.e. the exposure or disease classification is incorrect for the same proportions of subject in the groups compared; the misclassification is random or non-differential. Random misclassification always results in an underestimate of the true relative risk. Random misclassification is often believed to be a less serious problem with respect to the validity of the findings since the bias introduced is always towards the null. However, if a substantial random misclassification exists, a study can report a finding of little or no effect when in fact a true association exists.

Confounding: If not properly adjusted for, confounding might contribute to a false conclusion of the strength of an association and whether a true association is present.

Confounding derives from the Latin verb "confundere", meaning mingle and blend, so that different elements are indistinguishable; to confuse. In medical statistics and epidemiology, a confounder is defined as a factor that is both associated to the exposure and, independently, to the outcome/disease. If presence of a confounding factor, the observed relationship between the exposure and the disease can be attributable, totally or partly, to the effect of the confounder. Confounding might lead to erroneous conclusions in a study by either overestimation or underestimation of the true association between the exposure and the effect. Confounding can even change the direction of the observed effect. Unlike bias, which primarily is introduced by the investigator or study participants, confounding is a function of the complex interrelationships between various exposures and disease (34).

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aim of this study was to explore potential risk factors for chronic MSCs and chronic WMSCs.

The aims of the individual papers were:

Paper 1: To explore smoking as a potential risk factor for chronic MSCs later in life. Paper 1 was based on the 11 years follow-up period between HUNT2 (1995-1997) and HUNT 3 (2006-2008).

Paper 2: To explore whether the age at menarche was associated with chronic WMSCs. Paper 2 was based on a cross-sectional study from HUNT2.

Paper 3: To explore whether the use of oral contraceptives was associated with chronic WMSCs. Paper 3 was based on a cross-sectional study from HUNT2.

3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.1 Study population

HUNT is the largest population based health survey in Norway. All inhabitants aged 20 years or more in the Nord-Trøndelag County were invited to participate in an extensive health survey, "Helseundersøkelsen i Nord Trøndelag (HUNT)". The HUNT Study has been conducted in 3 waves so far, HUNT 1 (1984-1986), HUNT 2 (1995-1997) and HUNT 3 (2006-2008). The design applied in HUNT 1 was largely repeated in HUNT 2 and HUNT 3. The target population, including participants and nonparticipants, has been described in detail previously (38, 39). Participation was based on informed consent, and the study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics. The population is ethnically homogenous, consisting mainly of Caucasians (>95%), with a low migration rate. Two questionnaires comprising more than 200 health-related questions, including questions about MSCs, were used in both surveys (HUNT 2 and HUNT 3). An invitation letter and a first questionnaire (Q1) were mailed to all inhabitants aged 20 years or more about 2 weeks in advance and brought to a brief medical examination (M1) that included blood pressure and height/weight measurements.

In HUNT 2 the total population aged 20 years or more, which comprised 93898 persons, was eligible for participation. A total of 65 237 participated, representing 69.5% of those invited in HUNT 2. In HUNT 3, the total population of 93 860 persons aged 20 years or more was invited. The participation rate was 54 % in HUNT 3. Regarding attrition between the HUNT 2 and HUNT 3 surveys, the participation rate in HUNT 3 decreased by 15.4 percentage points. The decrease was most pronounced in men and younger adults. Among 65 237 participants in HUNT 2, 10 507 (16.1%) had died at the time of HUNT 3, 240 had emigrated and 1 had disappeared. Out of all HUNT 2 participants, 72% of women and 69% of men also participated in HUNT 3 (39).

	HUNT 2	HUNT 3	HUNT 2+3
Invited (20yrs+)	N=93898	N=93860	
Participation	N=65237 (69.5 %)	N=50807 (54.1 %)	N=37071

The follow-up study (Paper 1) aimed at a cohort consisting of 15,134 participants, both men and women, without chronic MSCs at baseline (HUNT 2, 1995-1997), with valid information at follow-up (HUNT 3, 2006-2008). Persons with incomplete data on main exposure (smoking) and the outcome chronic MSCs were excluded from the study.

The cross-sectional studies described in paper 2 and paper 3, comprised only female participants in HUNT 2. Among the 46709 eligible women in HUNT 2, 35280 participated (75.5%) whereof 34,528 (73.9%) filled in the questionnaire (Q1) and participated in a brief medical examination that included blood pressure, height and weight measurements (M1). Females with incomplete data on main exposure (menarche or use of OCs) and the outcome MSCs were excluded from the study.

	HUNT 2
Invited women(20yrs+)	N= 47312
Eligible women	N= 46709
Participation	N= 35280 (75.5 %)
Participation (Q1+M1)	N= 34528 (73.9 %)

Flow chart of the study populations for the 3 studies:



3.2 Outcome measure

The outcome variable was defined as the presence of self-reported chronic MSCs/WMSCs. Firstly, chronic MSCs were identified, in accordance with the definition of chronic pain given by The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP), by the screening question "During the last year have you had continuous pain and/or stiffness in muscles and joints for at least 3 months"? The screening question was identical in HUNT 2 and HUNT 3.

Secondly, those answering "yes" were asked to mark the location of pain on a drawing where one or more of the following areas could be chosen: neck, shoulders, elbows, wrist/hands, upper back, low back, hips, knees, and/or ankles/feet. According to the 1990 criteria of the American College of Rheumatology (ACR), chronic WMSCs are defined as chronic MSCs of the following three regions: axial skeleton (neck, upper back or lower back), above the waist (neck, shoulders, elbows, wrist/hands or upper back), and below the waist (lower back, hips, knees or ankles/feet). The side localisation was only assessed in HUNT 3.

3.3 Confounders and risk factors

The assessed factors associated with chronic MSCs/WMSCs include age, gender, smoking, increased BMI, low education, low family income, low physical activity, depression and anxiety (9, 11).

<u>Age:</u> The prevalence of MSCs/WMSCs increases with age, showing a flattening or decreasing curve after 70-80 yrs. (4, 32).

<u>Gender:</u> Women report more pain in general and are at higher risk for MSCs than men (4, 9, 11). Since pain is a subjective measure, based on self-report, the sex differences might at least partly be explained by psychosocial or cultural mechanisms (40). There is an abundant evidence of hormonal contributions to common pain conditions (40), and subsequently a possible explanation for the female predominance. The pain mechanisms are complex interactions of psychological and biological pathways.

<u>BMI/Obesity</u>: Body Mass Index (BMI) is a simple index of weight-for-height that is commonly used to classify underweight, overweight and obesity in adults. It is defined as the weight in kilograms divided by the square number of the height in meters (kg/m^2). The WHO's International Classification

of adult underweight, overweight and obesity according to BMI defines underweight as BMI<18.5, normal weight as BMI 18.5-24.99, overweight as 25.00-29,99, and obesity as BMI>30.00. As concluded in systematic reviews and longitudinal studies, increased BMI and obesity are identified as risk factors for MSCs (41-44). The mechanisms for a relationship between BMI and MSCs are not fully understood, and several pathways have been discussed. There might be mechanical, structural, physiological or behavioural mechanisms to explain the association between BMI and MSCs.

Socioeconomic status (SES)/educational level: Low education, which reflects low SES, is associated with chronic MSCs and, more strongly, to chronic WMSCs (45, 46). Low SES is associated to poor health in general and has been shown for self-reported health and for overall mortality (47, 48). Inequalities in health are determined by socioeconomic differences in lifetime exposure to various factors, but comparative studies have methodological drawbacks (49). The relationship between socioeconomic status and morbidity and mortality is well known from a number of studies (49, 50). Educational level, occupation and income might all be regarded as different aspects of socioeconomic status (46). Data from the HUNT Study have shown a consistent pattern of increasing self-reported health problems with decreasing educational level (51).

A high level of education was defined in our papers as college or university.

<u>Physical activity</u>: There is evidence of physical inactivity being both a consequence and a risk factor for chronic MSCs (52-55). There are methodological problems in measuring physical activity. In epidemiologic studies, information about physical activity is often collected using questionnaires, through self-reporting or by interviewing, and the reliability and validity of questionnaires are important. Studies have shown moderate to fair validity and reliability for moderate to light physical activity, and somewhat better for more rigorous physical activity and occupational physical activity (56, 57). Due to the high proportion of missing, physical activity could not be assessed as a potential confounding factor in paper 2 and 3. In paper 1, light physical activity (defined as high when \geq 1 hour per week and low when less than 1 hour per week), was assessed as a potential confounder with the awareness of 11.5% missing data. Physical activity did not confound the association and accordingly not included in the final analysis.

<u>Psychological distress</u>: There is abundant evidence of an association between psychological distress or poor mental health and chronic MSCs (58-61).

Psychological distress has been reported to precede musculoskeletal pain and to be a consequence of such conditions (26, 45, 62-65). A large proportion of pain and dysfunction in the musculoskeletal system is considered to be non-specific (66, 67). Non-specific pain has a high degree of association with personal and psychosocial factors (66). Psychological and sociocultural factors are important risk factors for musculoskeletal pain syndromes, especially in the adult population that reports WMSCs (66, 68).

Anxiety and depression were measured by HADS (Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale). To achieve a high level of specificity a cut-off value of \geq 11 was chosen for both subscales in the present study (69-71). HADS is a reliable and valid instrument for assessing the separate dimensions, symptom severity and caseness of anxiety and depression in the general population (72) and in patients with acute low back pain (73).

<u>Smoking:</u> According to WHO, tobacco is the leading cause of death, illness and impoverishment. The tobacco epidemic is one of the biggest public health threats the world has ever faced, killing around 6 million people a year. Tobacco use is one of the main risk factors for a number of chronic diseases. Despite this, it is common throughout the world. A number of countries have legislation restricting tobacco advertising, and regulating who can buy and use tobacco products, and where people can

smoke (74).Tobacco smoke contains tare, carbon monoxide and the highly addictive psychoactive ingredient, nicotine. Additionally, 7000 different chemical components have been identified whereof 70 might cause serious diseases. Carbon monoxide is identified as the leading cause of cardiovascular disease among smokers (74), (www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs339/en/, www.cancerresearchuk.org/).

A study on global trends and projections for tobacco use found that the prevalence of tobacco smoking has fallen between 2000 and 2010, for both women and men (www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2015/trends-tobacco-use/en/). Cigarette smoking prevalence among adults (aged 16 and over) in European countries has decreased since the early 1970s, and the sex gap in cigarette smoking prevalence has narrowed in recent years. The trends are the same for Norway, where 13 % of the population were daily smokers in 2014, compared to 21 % in 2010 and 42% in 1973. In HUNT 2 (1995-1997) 22.7% were daily smokers, whereas in HUNT 3 (2006-2008) 11.7% were smoking cigarettes daily.

An association between smoking and MSCs has been studied in meta-analyses (75-77), mostly based on restricted population samples, and only a few prospective studies of a general population (78, 79).

These meta-analyses conclude that there is an association between smoking and low back pain, and being an ex-smoker predicts the onset of neck pain, but there is a fairly modest association and possibly due to statistical artefacts.

Self-reported smoking has been evaluated and is a valid indicator of current smoking (80, 81).

<u>Menarche:</u> Menarche is defined by the onset of menstruation in girls, is due to increased estradiol production in puberty. The age of menarche depends on the interaction between genetic and environmental factors and, in some cases, lifestyle factors (82). It is partly a heritable trait defined by

a complex genetic pattern. 106 genomic loci have been identified through a study comprised of 182,416 women of European descent. Many of these genomic loci were implicated in body mass index and various diseases. The mechanisms that determine menarche and it's links to disease risk remain unclear (83). Obese girls tend to enter puberty earlier (84).

In western countries, the age at menarche has been decreasing the last decades. Studies have shown that up to 60% might be explained by the genetic variances, and environmental factors such as overweight and the widespread presence of endocrine-disrupting chemicals is suspected to contribute to the trend of earlier pubertal onset (85), but there is still inconsistent findings of the influence of non-genetic factors of age at menarche. Early menarche (<12yrs) is consistently associated with higher risk of death from all causes (86), and an association between menarche <12yrs and headache is reported (87). When it comes to MSCs, an association between age at menarche and pelvic pain in pregnancy has been reported (88). There is little evidence of the associations between menarche and MSCs in general.

<u>Oral contraceptives (OCs)</u>: OCs are used primarily for birth control and are commonly used in Norway and other Western countries. OCs prevent ovulation and are usually composed of a synthetic estrogen, ethinyl estradiol, and a progestin (89). OCs were introduced to the Norwegian market in 1967. The dosage of estradiol was initially very high (150µg), but nowadays there is a lower dosage of estradiol (20-35µg). The use of OCs increases the risk for deep venous thrombosis (90) and reduces certain types of cancer (91) and possibly osteoporosis (92-96). The risk of ovarian, endometrial and colon cancer is reduced with OCs use (91, 97), while data on breast cancer are conflicting (98, 99). The use of OCs in women over age 35 years who smoke is associated with an increased risk of death from cardiovascular events (100). However, overall mortality rates are not increased, and may actually be decreased, among ever users of OCs compared with never users (101, 102). There is sparse evidence of an association between OCs and MSCs, but duration of OCs use might have an association to low back pain (103). A study of use of OCs and rheumatoid arthritis (RA) concluded that there is no cumulative effect between use of OCs and the risk of RA (104).

3.4 Statistics and data processing

	Research Question	Study design	Method	Confounding	Effect modification
Paper 1	Risk/Association Smoking-MSCs	Follow-up	Poisson regression	Mantel Haenszl	Breslow and Day
Paper 2	Association Menarche- WMSCs	Cross- sectional	Logistic regression	Logistic regression	Logistic regression Interaction factor
Paper 3	Association OCs- WMSCs	Cross- sectional	Logistic regression	Logistic regression	Logistic regression Interaction factor

We used a longitudinal design with an explanatory strategy in paper 1 and cross-sectional design with descriptive strategy in paper 2 and 3. Our major hypothesis was that the exposure variables were associated with occurrence of chronic MSCs/WMSCs. The other variables were of interest as potential confounders or effect modifiers of this association.

A significance level of 5% was used throughout.

We used the STROBE (Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology) statement guidelines in reporting our study (105).

Paper 1:

In the follow-up study in paper 1, we used Poisson regression analysis to assess the association between smoking and chronic MSCs. Total cumulative observation time was 171328 person years with a median observation time of 11.3 years.

Confounders were identified and controlled univariate using the Mantel-Haenszel method for pooled relative risk estimates (34, 106). The confounding effect was quantified by comparing the adjusted Mantel-Haenszel incidence rate ratio (IRR) to the crude IRR. A Breslow and Day test of heterogeneity was done to pinpoint effect modification. Assessment of effect modification was done also at the additive scale, as it is important in public health (36). Because of variability in observation time of subjects, the Poisson regression model was used to estimate the incident rate ratio (IRR) of daily smoking as the exposure and chronic MSCs as the outcome controlling for the presence of interactions. The significance of interactions was highlighted by the log – likelihood ratio test, comparing the model with interactions versus the model without interactions (107). A Mantel-Haenszel test of linear trend was applied to pinpoint a dose response effect for different exposure

levels of smoking (106). The etiological fraction (EF) was estimated $EF = \frac{P_E(IRR - 1)}{P_E(IRR - 1) + 1)}$ where P_E

is the follow-up time in exposed divided by the total follow-up time.

We adjusted for the interaction between age and smoking.

Statistical analyses were performed using STATA version 11.0.

Paper 2:

Logistic regression analysis was used to estimate the odds ratio (OR) with menarche ≤12yrs as the exposure, and chronic WMSCs as the outcome in a cross-sectional design. Initially, a crude association between age at menarche and chronic WMSCs was analysed. The association between

potential confounders and chronic WMSCs was investigated using univariable logistic regression, with only those significantly associated (p< 0.05) with both exposure and outcome taken forward in the multivariable model as confounders of the association between age at menarche and chronic WMSCs.

Interaction analyses between all independent variables and the exposure of interest were performed by introducing interaction terms and were included in the final analyses if statistically significant (with p< 0.05).

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS version 21, Armonk, N.Y, USA.

Paper 3:

Logistic regression analysis was used to estimate the odds ratio (OR) with use of OCs as the exposure, and chronic WMSCs as the outcome in a cross-sectional design.

The association between use of OCs and chronic WMSCs was controlled for potential confounding using logistic regression analysis, first introducing potential confounders one at a time, and then using only those significantly associated with WMSCs (with p-level < 0.05) in the multivariable model.

Analyses for effect modification of all independent variables, on the association between exposure and outcome, were performed by introducing an interaction term, and selected by statistical significance (with p-level<0.05). Stratified analyses were performed as a supplementary assessment of the confounding and effect modification, using the Mantel-Haenszel method to identify confounding effect, and a Breslow and Day test of heterogeneity to identify any effect modification (34, 106). Logistic regression analysis was used to estimate the OR of previous or current use of OCs as the exposure, and chronic WMSCs as the outcome.

We adjusted for the interaction between age and previous use of OCs.

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS version 21, Armonk, N.Y, USA.

4. SUMMARY OF RESULTS

4.1 Paper I

Smoking as a risk factor for Chronic Musculoskeletal Complaints is influenced by age. The HUNT Study.

Abstract:

Chronic musculoskeletal complaints (MSCs) are among the major health problems, and crosssectional studies suggest an association between smoking and MSCs. The causal relationship, however, is not known. The present study is designed to assess the association between smoking and chronic MSCs and is based on data from a large longitudinal cohort study of all inhabitants \geq 20 years in Nord-Trøndelag County (Helse Undersøkelsen i Nord-Trøndelag -HUNT), conducted in 1995-1997 (HUNT 2) and 2006-2008 (HUNT 3). The study population consisted of 15,134 subjects without chronic MSCs and valid exposure data on smoking at baseline (HUNT 2). The outcome was defined as presence of chronic MSCs at follow-up (HUNT 3). The results show that smoking at baseline represents a 20% increased risk (IRR=1.20, 95% CI: 1.14 – 1.27, p=0.0001) for chronic MSCs at followup. The risk for chronic MSCs by daily smoking decreased with increasing age up to 50 years, which after there was no significant association. The results show that modifiable risk factors like smoking should be included in public health intervention programs for MSCs.

4.2 Paper II

Early menarche and chronic widespread musculoskeletal complaints. Results from the HUNT study.

Abstract:

Background: There is a predominance of chronic widespread musculoskeletal complaints (WMSCs) among females. Previous studies suggest an association between hormonal factors and pain. However, it is not known whether earlier age at menarche is associated with higher prevalence of chronic WMSCs.

Aim: To investigate the association between age at menarche and chronic WMSCs.

Methods: Data from a cross-sectional study of inhabitants≥20 years in Nord-Trøndelag County (Helseundersøkelsen i Nord-Trøndelag -HUNT), conducted in 1995-1997 (HUNT 2) were used. The study population comprised 32,673 women with valid information of age at menarche (exposure) and chronic WMSCs (outcome data).

Results: In total, 8,986 (27.5%) women reported WMSCs. The overall prevalence of WMSCs was 29.7% among those with menarche ≤12yrs and 26.7% among those with menarche >12yrs. The prevalence of chronic WMSCs was consistently higher for those with early age at menarche in all age groups. The crude odds ratio for chronic WMSCs, when comparing women with age at menarche ≤12yrs to women with age at menarche >12yrs, was 1.16 (95% CI: 1.10-1.22). The corresponding odds ratio was 1.26 (95%CI: 1.19-1.34) when adjusted for age, education, body mass index (BMI), smoking, alcohol consumption, depression, systolic blood pressure (SBP), and parity.

Conclusion: In this cross-sectional study there was an association between early age at menarche and chronic WMSCs later in life, but the difference in absolute risk was low (3%).

4.3 Paper III

Oral contraceptives and chronic widespread musculoskeletal complaints. Results from the HUNT study.

Abstract:

Background: There are studies which suggest an association between musculoskeletal complaints (MSCs) and sex hormones. Sex hormones may be affected by use of oral contraceptives (OCs). The aim of this study was to assess the association between the use of OCs and chronic widespread musculoskeletal complaints (WMSCs).

Methods: Data from a large cross-sectional population-based study of inhabitants aged \geq 20 yrs in Nord-Trøndelag County (Helseundersøkelsen i Nord-Trøndelag -HUNT), conducted in 1995-1997 (HUNT 2) was used. The study population consisted of 14161 women aged 20-55 yrs with valid exposure and outcome data. The outcome was defined as presence of chronic WMSCs.

A logistic regression model was used to estimate the odds ratio (OR) of previous or current OCs use as the exposure, and chronic WMSCs as the outcome.

Results: 3053 (21.6%) women reported chronic WMSCs, 2917 (20.6%) had chronic non-WMSCs, and 8191 (57.8%) had no MSCs. In age-adjusted analyses no significant association with chronic WMSCs was found when comparing women who currently used OCs to those who had never used OCs (OR 0.99, 95% CI 0.90-1.09). The corresponding OR was 1.27 (95%CI: 1.15-1.39) for women who had previously used OCs, and the association between previous use of OCs and chronic WMSCs was more evident in women \leq 39 yrs (OR 1.41, 95% CI: 1.18-1.68) than women > 39 yrs (OR 1.16, 95% CI 1.03-1.30). **Conclusion:** In this cross-sectional study there was an association between previous use of OCs and chronic WMSCs, most evident in women younger than 39 yrs. Current use of OCs was not associated with chronic WMSCs.

5. METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

5.1 Designs

A general population cohort study is feasible when common exposures are to be studied. Paper 1 is based on a general population cohort study where smoking, a common exposure in a general population, was assessed as a risk factor for subsequent chronic MSCs.

A longitudinal cohort study which might be classified in different ways: a historical cohort study, a retrospective cohort study or a retrospective follow-up study. Some would argue that all follow-up studies have a prospective design and subsequently classify it as a prospective cohort study. As the study in paper 1 is based on data that already exists, both for the exposure and the outcome, one might argue that this cohort study is historical/retrospective and not prospective.

Paper 2 and 3 are cross-sectional studies based on data from HUNT 2. In paper 2, we could argue that the study could be considered as a proxy for longitudinal data as age at menarche is an exposure reported retrospectively in a cross-sectional study. As all the participants in the study are 20 yrs. or more, age at menarche is a prior and well-defined event.

In paper 3, however, it is not reasonable to argue that the cross-sectional data give a proxy for a longitudinal design. The exposure "previous use of OCs" is not as well-defined event as the exposure in paper 2.

Paper 2 was originally designed as a follow-up study with baseline data from HUNT 2 and the outcome data from HUNT 3, but the editor/reviewer did not find the rationale for associating early

menarche specifically with WMSC onset during an arbitrary 11-year period at some later time of life. As this was a major concern, the design was changed to a cross-sectional study.

Applying a longitudinal design for paper 3 raises somewhat the same concerns as for the design in paper 2, and was accordingly designed as a cross-sectional study.

5.2 External validity

External validity, or generalisability, refers to the extent to which results from a study can be generalised outside of the study population. A prerequisite for external validity is internal validity, i.e. that the results hold true for its study population itself. The representativeness of the study sample is often the focus when evaluating the external validity in epidemiological studies.

The present study is questionnaire-based from a general population in the county of Nord-Trøndelag in Norway. We do have reasons to believe that this population is representative for the Norwegian population and as well for most of the European population. The population is ethnically homogenous, consisting mainly of Caucasians (>95%), with a low migration rate. However, the habitation is mostly rural with little urbanization which might be argued to give somewhat less generalisability as we know that half of the world's population lives in urbanized areas.

5.3 Internal validity

Participation and Selection bias

Selection bias reduces the external validity. Low participation rate is most problematic if the cohort is to be used in surveillance or cross-sectional studies. Follow-up studies to assess the association between exposure and outcome, does not necessarily get influenced by a low participation rate as long as the cohort is representative. Generally, the strengths of the HUNT Study is the large population with a large age span, covering groups of people with different cohort exposures, within a defined geographical area covering one county in Norway, and that all data are linked to the unique personal identification number enabling linkage of data for each individual. The participation rate has been reported as very good or acceptable in most age groups in HUNT 2 and HUNT 3 (39).

The major potential source of selection bias in paper 1 is related to a large proportion of losses to follow- up (56 %). Baseline information in the eligible population made it possible to examine whether there were systematic differences in main exposure status or other risk factors between the group in which the disease status was known and unknown. Those with unknown disease status were more frequently daily smokers as compared to those with known disease status, males and less highly educated. These figures indicate that estimation of the exposure-disease association could be affected of bias due to losses of follow-up in this cohort, but we neither know the magnitude nor the direction in which the effect measure is biased.

Information bias

Information bias is a very important source of bias in cohort studies. The possibility of misclassification of exposure and disease status cannot be excluded in our study. Information was obtained using the same questionnaire for all participants, and the effect of misclassification will dependent on the sensitivity and specificity of the questionnaire. The answers obtained by a questionnaire may not represent the true state of the individual.

To avoid differential misclassification, one have to be certain that the outcome registration is not affected/influenced by the exposure. The outcome, chronic MSCs, was classified according to selfreported symptoms and misclassification of disease status could have occurred. However, as the respondents were unaware of our research hypothesis we believe that misclassification of disease status is non-differential. Non-differential misclassification of both exposure status and disease status dilute the association between exposure and disease (107), and therefore the observed association between the exposure and chronic MSCs is expected to represent a diluted, not inflated effect.

Recall bias is especially problematic in case-control and retrospective cohort studies. Recall bias can lead to either over- or underestimate of an association between exposure and disease/outcome. In paper 2 and 3, there could be a recall bias for the exposure, but equivalent to paper 1, the respondents were unaware of our research hypothesis.

Confounding:

In the epidemiology of MSCs, several confounding factors are known and several discussed and proposed as possible confounders. In different epidemiological studies, the confounders that have been assessed and included might differ. Therefore, the comparison between studies might be difficult and somewhat hampered. However, age, gender, socioeconomic status, and psychological factors, are usually considered as well-established confounders when assessing an association to MSCs. Occupational data in the HUNT Study were reclassified according to the international Erikson Goldthorpe Portocarero (EGP) social class scheme, but due to a high proportion of missing data (>25%), we were unable to use the occupational data in our papers. However, education had a very low proportion of missing data (<1%) and could accordingly be included.

Exposure variables:

Paper 1: The main exposure variable was smoking status at baseline (HUNT 2). The unexposed (nonsmoker) was defined as "never", "passive" or "previous smoker". Exposed subjects included all current smokers regardless of the number of cigarettes smoked per day. Paper 2: The exposure variable was age at menarche reported in HUNT 2. Unexposed participants were defined as females with menarche >12yrs and exposed participants as those with menarche ≤12yrs, the latter group representing the lower quartile of age at menarche in our study. The same cutoff for defining early age at menarche has been used in previous studies (108-110).

Age at menarche was self-reported in this study. We considered this to be a reliable measure, as menarche is a milestone in a woman's life. Previous studies have found good validity (111) and reproducibility (112) for this self-reported measure. However, two more recent studies throw some doubt on whether it is justifiable to use age at menarche self-reported in middle age as there might be reporting errors and limitations in the interpretations (113, 114).

Paper 3: The main exposure variable was use of OCs. Q2 included questions about menstruation, pregnancy and use of OCs. Women aged <56 yrs who answered "yes" to the question "Are you still menstruating?" were sub-classified according to their response to two different questions regarding use of OCs "Did you ever take the pill, the mini-pill included?" and "Do you take the pill now?" Women who had never used OCs were defined as unexposed, and exposed, those who had used OCs, were divided into 2 groups comprised of either current or previous use of OCs.

Information about duration of OCs use was necessary for the estimation of a potential dose-response relationship. We would prefer to assess the duration of OCs use, for both current and previous users, but this variable was too often missing (34.8%).

It appears reasonable to assume that parity is associated with use of OCs. Parity might be associated with musculoskeletal pain (115). We did not find studies of the associations between parity and WMSCs to support an assessment of parity as a potential confounder. Nevertheless, we did control for parity in the present study leading to no change in the effect estimate.

Outcome measures:

The outcome definition in all 3 papers might include complaints where chronic stiffness in muscles and joints acts as a separate condition, but the prevalence of stiffness without pain is unknown and a possible bias could not be ruled out. However, as the respondents were unaware of our research hypothesis, we believe that misclassification of the outcome is non-differential. Chronic MSCs were the outcome variable in paper 1. The outcome variable includes both widespread and non-widespread MSCs.

The outcome definition in HUNT 2 did not include a question regarding whether participants had pain in both sides of the body, one criterion for WMSCs according to the ACR 1990 criteria. The reliability of the screening question for chronic MSCs and chronic WMSCs was respectively good (kappa value 0.63, 95% CI: 0.53-0.73) and moderate (kappa value 0.48, 95% CI: 0.38-0.64) (4). Note that the definition of chronic WMSCs differs slightly between HUNT 2 and HUNT 3. In HUNT 3, all individuals with chronic widespread MSCs confirmed that they had pain in both sides of the body, whereas participants in HUNT2 were not asked to distinguish between pain in the left and right side of the body.

5.4 Statistical approach

As a general rule, variables that are known a priori to be important confounders, based on previous work should be controlled for in the analysis. In addition, other possible confounders may be selected as a result of exploratory analysis based on the data present and external knowledge, and restricted to those variables that are associated to both the outcome and the exposure without being on the causal pathway. In paper 1 we identified confounders accordingly and controlled univariably using the Mantel-Haenszel method for pooled estimate of effect in a stratified analysis. The

confounding effect was quantified by comparing the adjusted Mantel-Haenszel incidence rate ratio (IRR) to the crude IRR (34). Confounding effect was quantified using the formula $\frac{IRR_{MH} - IRR_{crude}}{IRR_{crude}}$

The confounding effect was minimal (<1%) and hence no confounders were included in the final analysis. Our main finding was that there was a significant interaction (effect modification) with age between the exposure and the outcome, and hence the final analysis was done for the two strata, i.e. under and over 50 yrs. There are different approaches to how interaction should be interpreted, and there are pitfalls in the analysis and interpretation. With multiple comparisons, we would expect one in twenty comparisons to be statistically significant at the 5 % level. Therefore, in studies where the effect of many exposures is measured, a more cautious interpretation of associations is needed as opposed to a study with a specified a priori hypothesis. Accordingly, some epidemiologists argue that interactions between the exposure and the outcome should be identified a priori. However, there are arguments to support the importance of a statistical approach to identify interaction as there might be effect modifications that are not obvious from previous studies or by eyeballing the present data. Previous studies gave contradictory results on the interaction between smoking and age on the outcome (116, 117). In the presence of substantial interaction, the stratum-specific effects of the exposure should be reported (118). The tests for interaction lack power, and sample size is therefore important. In our paper, we argue that with the large sample size should be ample to support our interaction analysis. The purpose of a statistical test is to provide a simplified but useful picture of reality. In assessing the evidence for interactions, it is important to assess meaningful trends in the effect estimates over the strata. A finding of weak interactions is probably of little interest (118).

In paper 1, we found a consistent trend of decreasing IRR with age, and no significant association



between exposure and outcome after the age of 50 yrs, as shown in the figure:

We used Poisson regression analysis in paper 1. The general form of the Poisson regression model is similar to that for logistic regression. Poisson regression is used to estimate rate ratios comparing different exposure groups in the same way that logistic regression is used to estimate odds ratios comparing different exposure groups.

Previous studies that are comparable to our study have used both Poisson and logistic regression models (4, 44, 45). Incidence rate ratio (IRR) is the effect estimate of a Poisson regression analysis and Odds Ratio (OR) from a logistic regression analysis. If the outcome is common, i.e. high prevalence like in our studies, the OR is higher than the RR/IRR. This might be an argument for using Poisson regression analysis together with the statement from many researchers that RR/IRR is intuitively more comprehensible than OR. On the other hand, the use of logistic regression analysis is somewhat more common and could be argued for as to simplify the direct comparison of other studies and their effect estimates.

In paper 2, logistic regression analysis was used for the cross-sectional study. A cross-sectional study cannot measure disease incidence because risk or rate calculations require information across a period of time. The association between potential confounders and WMSCs was investigated using univariable logistic regression, with only those significantly associated (p< 0.05) with both exposure and outcome taken forward in the multivariable model as confounders of the association between age at menarche and WMSCs. In a large sample size, it is more likely to get a statistically significant association and we could have chosen to assess the potential confounders as in paper 1 by estimating the confounding effect. However, the final analysis showed small differences between the age-adjusted analysis and the fully adjusted analysis. We have used two different statisticians who prefer somewhat a slightly different approach.

In paper 3, we have used the same method as in paper 2. However, stratified analyses were performed as a supplementary assessment of the confounding and effect modification, using the Mantel-Haenszel method to identify confounding effect, and a Breslow and Day test of heterogeneity to identify any effect modification. In both paper 2 and paper 3, analyses for effect modification of all independent variables, on the association between exposure and outcome, were performed by introducing an interaction term, and selected by statistical significance (with p-level<0.05).

In paper 2, the interaction analysis identified a statistically significant interaction between age and age at menarche (p<0.001), but the prevalence of chronic WMSCs was consistently higher in those with early age at menarche in all age groups. Subsequently, the interaction found statistically did not seem clinically relevant.

As in paper 2, a statistical interaction with age was found in paper 3, but did not appear clinically important.

5.5 Ethical considerations

The Data inspectorate of Norway and the Regional committee for medical Research Ethics approved the HUNT study. All information from the HUNT-study was treated according to the guidelines of The Data inspectorate of Norway.

The participation in HUNT was based upon a written informed consent from each participant.

6. DISCUSSION

Results, findings, compared with current evidence.

In paper 1, we found an association and a dose-response relationship between smoking and chronic MSCs, but only among those less than 50 years of age.

An association between smoking and MSCs has been studied on several occasions. However, the majority of the studies that have been carried out are cross-sectional of which several have been inconclusive. There are few follow-up studies of a general population (78, 79). The meta-analyses in this field have been based on a majority of studies with a restricted population, and subsequently less generalisable (75-77). Follow-up studies, RCTs and case-control studies are the designs which enable the assessment of causal effects. Given the facts that smoking is well documented as a risk factor for many diseases, and that smoking and MSCs both have a rather high prevalence with implications in the general population, there is obviously a need for follow-up studies.

A dose-response relationship between smoking and MSCs suggests a causal mechanism and has been reported in some of the studies carried out (119-122), but not in other studies (123, 124). It has been concluded that it is not feasible to do a meta-analysis of the dose-response relationship due to the limited number of prospective studies and different cut-off points for number of cigarettes smoked per day applied in the studies identified (75).

The negative effect of tobacco smoking on the musculoskeletal system might be caused by poorer vascularization, local hypoxia and cytokine release in connective tissues leading to pain or degenerative changes. From this perspective, it is plausible with a dose-response relationship between smoking and MSCs based on an expected increase in pack-years by increasing age. Given this, it is difficult to explain why a dose-response relationship was not observed after the age of 50 yrs in our study (Paper 1) where the observed association and dose-response relationship were strongest between young smokers and MSCs. Two previous studies gave contradictory results on the interaction between smoking and age (116, 117). The reason for the interaction between smoking and age (117).

Another study observed an interaction between smoking and age, with a higher prevalence of headache among smokers when compared to non-smokers, but only for those less than 40 years of age (125). As in our study, the possibility of a cohort effect leading to such results is difficult to rule out.

We know that daily smoking in adolescents is associated with multiple somatic and psychological health problems (126). Smoking might act as a relaxant, stress reliever and pain moderator. People with a low threshold for reporting pain and disability could be more likely to take up and continue smoking (127), and it is possible that smoking is a consequence of painful conditions.

Nicotine is a psychostimulant which affects both cortical and autonomic arousal. Thus, it could affect the pain processing both in the peripheral and central nervous system (128). Chronic cigarette smoking is associated with alterations in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA)-axis and there is evidence for higher HPA-axis activity as a predictor of smoking in early adolescence (129). The HPAaxis is involved in acute and chronic pain (130). Accordingly, an effect from smoking due to a higher susceptibility and reactivity in the HPA-axis in younger people could be one theory. Possibly there are neuropsychological or sociocultural differences that varies systematically between those who become smokers and those who do not. There might be indirect effects of smoking on musculoskeletal pain which are mediated through psychological aspects, or there might be a common underlying factor. Lower socioeconomic status is associated to smoking, MSCs and selfassessed/perceived general health (5, 45, 49, 131-133). One possible explanation for the findings in our study might be that the classifications of socioeconomic status do not capture the social dimensions that influence the association between pain and smoking.

In paper 2 we found that early menarche (\leq 12 yrs) was associated with chronic WMSCs later in life, but the difference in absolute risk was small (3%).

Other studies have shown that early age at menarche is associated with increased risk for obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, breast cancer, and all-cause mortality (109, 134, 135). Early menarche age is also associated with pain conditions like headache (110) and pelvic girdle pain in pregnancy (88).

Age at menarche has been decreasing over the last decades (136-139), implying that the younger cohort will have lower age at menarche. In the HUNT study, there was a significant increase in the prevalence of MSCs, and most prominent in the younger age groups. Accordingly, in the Norwegian report based on a comparison of the statistical numbers from 2004 and 2009, the conclusion states that the prevalence of MSCs remains relatively unchanged but an increase in the young population is observed. One possible explanation for this higher prevalence is that young people have an increased awareness of musculoskeletal pain or that they are more willing to report MSCs. One cannot exclude the possibility that the observed associations might be due to a cohort effect.

In paper 3, we found an association between previous use of OCs and chronic WMSCs, most evident for women younger than 39yrs. Current use of OCs was not associated with chronic WMSCs.

We were not able to find any other studies on the association between use of OCs and chronic WMSCs, but there are studies which have assessed the association between OCs and low back pain (103), carpal tunnel syndrome (140), and pain tolerance throughout the menstrual cycle (141). Scientific evidence for the association between use of OCs and low back pain is scarce (142) or not supportive (143, 144). Subjects with low back pain often report other MSCs (8, 145). The tendency of MSCs from different sites may reflect the existence of a more general musculoskeletal pain syndrome. Hormonal and reproductive factors associated with low back pain may be related to musculoskeletal pain in other anatomic locations as well. As some women experience variations of muscular pain throughout the menstrual cycle, theories regarding a beneficial effect of OCs use, through regulation of the hormonal fluctuations, have been formed (146). There is evidence for hormonal influence on pain susceptibility (147). Sex hormones might alter the pain processing through the neuroendocrine system. Sex hormones like estrogen and progesterone have potent modulating effects on central serotonergic and opioid neurons, and on both neuronal activity and receptor density (148). Administration and withdrawal of estrogens may increase the risk of pain (40, 149, 150).

A common explanation for chronic MSCs/WMSCs is based on a biopsychosocial model where the total burden of genetic, physical, psychological and social factors are modified negatively through stress, lack of coping strategies and comorbidity with anxiety and/or depression which lead to sustained activation of the HPA-axis . The sustained activation and dysregulation of the HPA-axis is thought to lead to, or be a part of, sensitization of central or peripheral nervous system. There is some evidence of OCs reducing the HPA-axis activity (151) and the current hypothesis of the aetiology of WMSCs includes inflammatory and neuroendocrine disorders. Genetic variation in HPA-

axis genes is associated with musculoskeletal pain; however, some of the associations were explained by comorbidities (152).

The large proportion of health problems due to pain and dysfunction in the musculoskeletal system could be considered to be non-specific, with no obvious pathology observed. Non-specific pain has a high degree of association with personal and psychosocial factors. This seems to especially be the case for chronic WMSCs. A recent study showed that the onset of WMSCs might be a result of a combination of the risk factors obesity, mental distress, poor sleep quality and poor physical fitness (153). A heritability of 48–52% has been shown for WMSCs in twin studies and a shared genetic component with other functional disorders and with anxiety and depression (154).

7. CONCLUSIONS

Chronic MSCs/WMSCs are common and costly health problems, and it is important to identify risk factors in order to find prevention or treatment. In this thesis, epidemiological data were used in an explanatory strategy. An association between smoking and chronic MSCs was found in a follow-up study, and an association between early age at menarche, earlier use of OCs and chronic WMSCs was found in cross-sectional studies. Smoking and use of OCs are factors which are modifiable by the individual, while age at menarche is not.

Under the assumption that the observed association between smoking and chronic MSCs is causal, chronic MSCs might be prevented if smoking is ceased. As smoking is prevalent in the general population and a modifiable risk factor, these findings could have a public health impact.

The two cross-sectional studies, for the association between age at menarche and chronic WMSCs and for the association between use of OCs and chronic WMSCs, cannot address any causal effect.

Future perspectives:

The goal for future studies is to explore more risk factors and prognostic factors for the development of chronic MSCs. The HUNT study will start the fourth wave in 2017. The aim is to use the potential of follow-up studies by using the different waves of the HUNT study, but some of the potential risk factors will probably still be most suitable for cross-sectional studies due to the limitations of questionnaire-based epidemiological studies.

In future studies, it would be interesting to explore if there is an effect modification between several risk factors and age as to try to elaborate on the theory of a higher susceptibility in the younger age groups or if this could be merely a cohort effect. To look for underlying genetic predisposition, there would be a need for genetic studies in combination with other clinical studies.

8. REFERENCES

1. Ihlebaek C, Brage S, Natvig B, Bruusgaard D. [Occurrence of musculoskeletal disorders in Norway]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2010;130(23):2365-8.

2. Hoy D, Geere JA, Davatchi F, Meggitt B, Barrero LH. A time for action: Opportunities for preventing the growing burden and disability from musculoskeletal conditions in low- and middle-income countries. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2014;28(3):377-93.

3. Hoy DG, Smith E, Cross M, Sanchez-Riera L, Blyth FM, Buchbinder R, et al. Reflecting on the global burden of musculoskeletal conditions: lessons learnt from the global burden of disease 2010 study and the next steps forward. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(1):4-7.

4. Hagen K, Linde M, Heuch I, Stovner LJ, Zwart JA. Increasing Prevalence of Chronic Musculoskeletal Complaints. A Large 11-Year Follow-Up in the General Population (HUNT 2 and 3). Pain Medicine. 2011;12(11):1657-66.

5. Bergman S, Herrstrom P, Hogstrom K, Petersson IF, Svensson B, Jacobsson LTH. Chronic musculoskeletal pain, prevalence rates, and sociodemographic associations in a Swedish population study. Journal of Rheumatology. 2001;28(6):1369-77.

6. Holth HS, Werpen HK, Zwart JA, Hagen K. Physical inactivity is associated with chronic musculoskeletal complaints 11 years later: results from the Nord-Trondelag Health Study. BMCMusculoskeletDisord. 2008;9:159.

7. Sirnes E, Sodal E, Nurk E, Tell GS. [Occurrence of musculoskeletal complaints in Hordaland]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2003;123(20):2855-9.

8. Kamaleri Y, Natvig B, Ihlebaek CM, Bruusgaard D. Localized or widespread musculoskeletal pain: Does it matter? Pain. 2008;138(1):41-6.

9. Mourão AF, Blyth FM, Branco JC. Generalised musculoskeletal pain syndromes. Best Practice & amp; Research Clinical Rheumatology. 2010;24(6):829-40.

10. McBeth J, Jones K. Epidemiology of chronic musculoskeletal pain. Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology. 2007;21(3):403-25.

11. Cimmino MA, Ferrone C, Cutolo M. Epidemiology of chronic musculoskeletal pain. Best Practice & amp; Research Clinical Rheumatology. 2011;25(2):173-83.

12. Hagen K, Svebak S, Zwart JA. Incidence of musculoskeletal complaints in a large adult Norwegian county population. The HUNT study. Spine31 (18) (pp 2146-2150), 2006Date of Publication: Aug 2006. 2006(18):Aug.

13. Croft P, Burt J, Schollum J, Thomas E, Macfarlane G, Silman A. More pain, more tender points: is fibromyalgia just one end of a continuous spectrum? Ann Rheum Dis. 1996;55(7):482-5.

14. Merskey H, Bogduk N, International Association for the Study of Pain Task Force on T. Classification of chronic pain : descriptions of chronic pain syndromes and definitions of pain terms. 2nd ed. ed. Seattle: IASP Press; 1994.

15. Adler RH. The term "chronic" with respect to pain should be dropped. Clin J Pain. 2000;16(4):365.

16. Wolfe F, Clauw DJ, Fitzcharles MA, Goldenberg DL, Katz RS, Mease P, et al. The American College of Rheumatology preliminary diagnostic criteria for fibromyalgia and measurement of symptom severity. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2010;62(5):600-10.

17. Wolfe F, Clauw DJ, Fitzcharles MA, Goldenberg DL, Hauser W, Katz RS, et al. Fibromyalgia criteria and severity scales for clinical and epidemiological studies: a modification of the ACR Preliminary Diagnostic Criteria for Fibromyalgia. J Rheumatol. 2011;38(6):1113-22.

18. Forseth KO, Gran JT. The prevalence of fibromyalgia among women aged 20-49 years in Arendal, Norway. Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology. 1992;21(2):74-8.

19. Kurtze N. [Fibromyalgia--effect of exercise]. [Review] [33 refs] [Norwegian]. Tidsskrift for Den Norske Laegeforening. 2004;124(19):2475-8.

20. Woolf AD, Pfleger B. Burden of major musculoskeletal conditions. [Review] [69 refs]. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2003;81(9):646-56.

21. Woolf AD. The bone and joint decade 2000-2010. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2000;59(2):81-2.

22. Asberg AN, Stovner L, Zwart JA, Winsvold BS, Heuch I, Hagen K. Chronic musculoskeletal complaints as a predictor of mortality. The HUNT study. Pain. 2016.

23. Smith D, Wilkie R, Uthman O, Jordan JL, McBeth J. Chronic pain and mortality: a systematic review. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):e99048.

24. Leadley RM, Armstrong N, Reid KJ, Allen A, Misso KV, Kleijnen J. Healthy aging in relation to chronic pain and quality of life in Europe. Pain pract. 2014;14(6):547-58.

25. Burckhardt CS, Clark SR, Bennett RM. Fibromyalgia and quality of life: a comparative analysis. Journal of Rheumatology. 1993;20(3):475-9.

26. Nicholl BI, Macfarlane GJ, Davies KA, Morriss R, Dickens C, McBeth J. Premorbid psychosocial factors are associated with poor health-related quality of life in subjects with new onset of chronic widespread pain - results from the EPIFUND study. Pain. 2009;141(1-2):119-26.

27. Macfarlane GJ, McBeth J, Silman AJ. Widespread body pain and mortality: prospective population based study. BMJ. 2001;323(7314):662-5.

28. Gupta A, Silman AJ, Ray D, Morriss R, Dickens C, MacFarlane GJ, et al. The role of psychosocial factors in predicting the onset of chronic widespread pain: results from a prospective population-based study. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46(4):666-71.

29. Badley EM, Rasooly I, Webster GK. Relative importance of musculoskeletal disorders as a cause of chronic health problems, disability, and health care utilization: findings from the 1990 Ontario Health Survey. Journal of Rheumatology. 1994;21(3):505-14.

30. Badley EM, Webster GK, Rasooly I. The impact of musculoskeletal disorders in the population: are they just aches and pains? Findings from the 1990 Ontario Health Survey. Journal of Rheumatology. 1995;22(4):733-9.

31. Murray CJ, Vos T, Lozano R, Naghavi M, Flaxman AD, Michaud C, et al. Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012;380(9859):2197-223.

32. Smith E, Hoy DG, Cross M, Vos T, Naghavi M, Buchbinder R, et al. The global burden of other musculoskeletal disorders: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(8):1462-9.

33. Porta M. A Dictionary of epidemiology. 6th ed. ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2014.
34. Hennekens CH, Buring JE, Mayrent SL. Epidemiology in medicine. Boston: Little, Brown;
1987.

35. Hill AB. The environment and disease: Association or causation? Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine. 1965;58:295-300.

36. Rothman KJ. Modern epidemiology. Boston, Mass.: Little, Brown and Company; 1986. xvi, 358 p.

37. Silman AJ, Macfarlane GJ. Epidemiological studies : a practical guide. 2nd ed. ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2002.

38. Holmen J, Midthjell K, Kruger Ø, Langhammer A, Holmen TL, Bratberg GH, et al. The Nord-Trøndelag Health Study 1995-97 (HUNT 2) : objectives, contents, methods and participation. Norsk epidemiologi. 2003;13(1):19-32.

39. Krokstad S, Langhammer A, Hveem K, Holmen TL, Midthjell K, Stene TR, et al. Cohort Profile: the HUNT Study, Norway. International Journal of Epidemiology. 2013;42(4):968-77.

40. Fillingim RB, King CD, Ribeiro-Dasilva MC, Rahim-Williams B, Riley JL, III. Sex, gender, and pain: a review of recent clinical and experimental findings. JPain. 2009;10(5):447-85.

41. Blagojevic M, Jinks C, Jeffery A, Jordan KP. Risk factors for onset of osteoarthritis of the knee in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2010;18(1):24-33.

42. Butterworth PA, Landorf KB, Gilleard W, Urquhart DM, Menz HB. The association between body composition and foot structure and function: a systematic review. Obes Rev. 2014;15(4):348-57.

43. Paulis WD, Silva S, Koes BW, van Middelkoop M. Overweight and obesity are associated with musculoskeletal complaints as early as childhood: a systematic review. Obes Rev. 2014;15(1):52-67.

44. Heuch I, Heuch I, Hagen K, Zwart JA. Body mass index as a risk factor for developing chronic low back pain: a follow-up in the Nord-Trondelag Health Study. Spine. 2013;38(2):133-9.

45. Macfarlane GJ, Norrie G, Atherton K, Power C, Jones GT. The influence of socioeconomic status on the reporting of regional and widespread musculoskeletal pain: Results from the 1958 British Birth Cohort Study. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2009;68(10):1591-5.

46. Hagen K, Zwart JA, Svebak S, Bovim G, Jacob SL. Low socioeconomic status is associated with chronic musculoskeletal complaints among 46,901 adults in Norway. ScandJPublic Health. 2005;33(4):268-75.

47. Gallo V, Mackenbach JP, Ezzati M, Menvielle G, Kunst AE, Rohrmann S, et al. Social inequalities and mortality in Europe--results from a large multi-national cohort. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e39013.

48. Kunst AE, Geurts JJ, van den Berg J. International variation in socioeconomic inequalities in self reported health. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1995;49(2):117-23.

49. Mackenbach JP, Kunst AE, Cavelaars AE, Groenhof F, Geurts JJ. Socioeconomic inequalities in morbidity and mortality in western Europe. The EU Working Group on Socioeconomic Inequalities in Health. Lancet. 1997;349(9066):1655-9.

50. Lazzarino AI, Hamer M, Stamatakis E, Steptoe A. The combined association of psychological distress and socioeconomic status with all-cause mortality: a national cohort study. JAMA InternMed. 2013;173(1):22-7.

51. Krokstad S, Kunst AE, Westin S. Trends in health inequalities by educational level in a Norwegian total population study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2002;56(5):375-80.

52. Heneweer H, Staes F, Aufdemkampe G, van RM, Vanhees L. Physical activity and low back pain: a systematic review of recent literature. [Review]. European Spine Journal. 2011;20(6):826-45.

53. Nilsen TI, Holtermann A, Mork PJ. Physical exercise, body mass index, and risk of chronic pain in the low back and neck/shoulders: longitudinal data from the Nord-Trondelag Health Study. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2011;174(3):267-73.

54. Timpka S, Petersson IF, Englund M. The grade in physical education in adolescence as predictor for musculoskeletal pain diagnoses three decades later. Pain. 2010;150(3):414-9.

55. McBeth J, Nicholl BI, Cordingley L, Davies KA, Macfarlane GJ. Chronic widespread pain predicts physical inactivity: results from the prospective EPIFUND study. EurJPain. 2010;14(9):972-9.
56. Kurtze N, Rangul V, Hustvedt BE. Reliability and validity of the international physical activity questionnaire in the Nord-Trondelag health study (HUNT) population of men. BMC MedResMethodol. 2008;8:63.

57. Kurtze N, Rangul V, Hustvedt BE, Flanders WD. Reliability and validity of self-reported physical activity in the Nord-Trondelag Health Study (HUNT 2). European Journal of Epidemiology. 2007;22(6):379-87.

58. Macfarlane GJ, Morris S, Hunt IM, Benjamin S, McBeth J, Papageorgiou AC, et al. Chronic widespread pain in the community: The influence of psychological symptoms and mental disorder on healthcare seeking behavior. Journal of Rheumatology. 1999;26(2):413-9.

59. Bjornsdottir SV, Jonsson SH, Valdimarsdottir UA. Mental health indicators and quality of life among individuals with musculoskeletal chronic pain: a nationwide study in Iceland. Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology. 2014;43(5):419-23.

60. Boonstra AM, Reneman MF, Stewart RE, Post MW, Schiphorst Preuper HR. Life satisfaction in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain and its predictors. Qual Life Res. 2013;22(1):93-101.

61. Hulsegge G, van Oostrom SH, Picavet HS, Twisk JW, Postma DS, Kerkhof M, et al. Musculoskeletal complaints among 11-year-old children and associated factors: the PIAMA birth cohort study. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2011;174(8):877-84.

62. Hotopf M, Mayou R, Wadsworth M, Wessely S. Temporal relationships between physical symptoms and psychiatric disorder. Results from a national birth cohort. Br J Psychiatry. 1998;173:255-61.

63. Edwards RR, Klick B, Buenaver L, Max MB, Haythornthwaite JA, Keller RB, et al. Symptoms of distress as prospective predictors of pain-related sciatica treatment outcomes. Pain. 2007;130(1-2):47-55.

64. Kroenke K, Wu J, Bair MJ, Krebs EE, Damush TM, Tu W. Reciprocal relationship between pain and depression: a 12-month longitudinal analysis in primary care. J Pain. 2011;12(9):964-73.
65. Scott EL, Kroenke K, Wu J, Yu Z. Beneficial Effects of Improvement in Depression, Pain

Catastrophizing, and Anxiety on Pain Outcomes: A 12-Month Longitudinal Analysis. J Pain. 2015.
Bergman S. Public health perspective- how to improve the musculoskeletal health of the population. Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology. 2007;21(1):191-204.

67. Rowbotham MC. Is fibromyalgia a neuropathic pain syndrome? J Rheumatol Suppl. 2005;75:38-40.

68. Gran JT. The epidemiology of chronic generalized musculoskeletal pain. (1521-6942 (Print)).
69. Brennan C, Worrall-Davies A, McMillan D, Gilbody S, House A. The Hospital Anxiety and
Depression Scale: A diagnostic meta-analysis of case-finding ability. Journal of Psychosomatic

Research. 2010;69(4):371-8.

70. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 1983;67(6):361-70.

71. Zwart JA, Dyb G, Hagen K, Odegard KJ, Dahl AA, Bovim G, et al. Depression and anxiety disorders associated with headache frequency. The Nord-Trondelag Health Study. European Journal of Neurology. 2003;10(2):147-52.

72. Mykletun A, Stordal E, Dahl AA. Hospital Anxiety and Depression (HAD) scale: factor structure, item analyses and internal consistency in a large population. British Journal of Psychiatry. 2001;179:540-4.

73. Turk DC, Dworkin RH, Trudeau JJ, Benson C, Biondi DM, Katz NP, et al. Validation of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale in Patients With Acute Low Back Pain. J Pain. 2015;16(10):1012-21.

74. Who. Tobacco- facts and figures. WHO. 2013.

75. Shiri R, Karppinen J, Leino-Arjas P, Solovieva S, Viikari-Juntura E. The association between smoking and low back pain: a meta-analysis. American Journal of Medicine. 2010;123(1):87-35.

76. McLean SM, May S, Klaber-Moffett J, Sharp DM, Gardiner E. Risk factors for the onset of non-specific neck pain: a systematic review. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2010;64(7):565-72.

Goldberg MS, Scott SC, Mayo NE. A review of the association between cigarette smoking and the development of nonspecific back pain and related outcomes. Spine. 2000;25(8):995-1014.
Eriksen W, Natvig B, Bruusgaard D. Smoking, heavy physical work and low back pain: a

four-year prospective study. OccupMed(Lond). 1999;49(3):155-60.

79. Bergman S, Herrstrom P, Jacobsson LTH, Petersson IF. Chronic widespread pain: A three year followup of pain distribution and risk factors. Journal of Rheumatology. 2002;29(4):818-25.

80. Valladolid-Lopez Mdel C, Barrientos-Gutierrez T, Reynales-Shigematsu LM, Thrasher JF, Pelaez-Ballestas I, Lazcano-Ponce E, et al. Evaluating the validity of self-reported smoking in Mexican adolescents. BMJ open. 2015;5(10):e007485.

81. Patrick DL, Cheadle A, Thompson DC, Diehr P, Koepsell T, Kinne S. The validity of self-reported smoking: a review and meta-analysis. Am J Public Health. 1994;84(7):1086-93.

82. Karapanou O, Papadimitriou A. Determinants of menarche. ReprodBiolEndocrinol. 2010;8:115.

83. Perry JR, Day F, Elks CE, Sulem P, Thompson DJ, Ferreira T, et al. Parent-of-origin-specific allelic associations among 106 genomic loci for age at menarche. Nature. 2014;514(7520):92-7.

84. Currie C, Ahluwalia N, Godeau E, Nic GS, Due P, Currie DB. Is obesity at individual and national level associated with lower age at menarche? Evidence from 34 countries in the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children Study. Journal of Adolescent Health. 2012;50(6):621-6.

85. Mouritsen A, Aksglaede L, Sorensen K, Mogensen SS, Leffers H, Main KM, et al. Hypothesis: exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals may interfere with timing of puberty. Int J Androl. 2010;33(2):346-59.

86. Charalampopoulos D, McLoughlin A, Elks CE, Ong KK. Age at menarche and risks of allcause and cardiovascular death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2014;180(1):29-40.

87. Aegidius K, Zwart JA, Hagen K, Schei B, Stovner LJ. Oral contraceptives and increased headache prevalence: the Head-HUNT Study. Neurology. 2006;66(3):349-53.

88. Bjelland EK, Eberhard-Gran M, Nielsen CS, Eskild A. Age at menarche and pelvic girdle syndrome in pregnancy: A Population study of 74 973 women. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 2011;118(13):1646-52.

89. Schorge JO, Williams JW. Williams' gynecology. New York: McGraw-Hill Medical; 2008.

90. Peragallo Urrutia R, Coeytaux RR, McBroom AJ, Gierisch JM, Havrilesky LJ, Moorman PG, et al. Risk of acute thromboembolic events with oral contraceptive use: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Obstet Gynecol. 2013;122(2 Pt 1):380-9.

91. Gierisch JM, Coeytaux RR, Urrutia RP, Havrilesky LJ, Moorman PG, Lowery WJ, et al. Oral contraceptive use and risk of breast, cervical, colorectal, and endometrial cancers: a systematic review. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2013;22(11):1931-43.

92. Evans G, Sutton EL. Oral contraception. Med Clin North Am. 2015;99(3):479-503.

93. Effects of hormone therapy on bone mineral density: results from the postmenopausal estrogen/progestin interventions (PEPI) trial. The Writing Group for the PEPI. JAMA. 1996;276(17):1389-96.

94. Lopez LM, Chen M, Mullins Long S, Curtis KM, Helmerhorst FM. Steroidal contraceptives and bone fractures in women: evidence from observational studies. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2015;7:Cd009849.

95. Boldo A, White WB. Blood pressure effects of the oral contraceptive and postmenopausal hormone therapies. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2011;40(2):419-32, ix.

96. Harvey RE, Coffman KE, Miller VM. Women-specific factors to consider in risk, diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular disease. Women's health (London, England). 2015;11(2):239-57.

97. Havrilesky LJ, Gierisch JM, Moorman PG, Coeytaux RR, Urrutia RP, Lowery WJ, et al. Oral contraceptive use for the primary prevention of ovarian cancer. Evidence report/technology assessment. 2013(212):1-514.

98. Vessey M, Yeates D. Oral contraceptive use and cancer: final report from the Oxford-Family Planning Association contraceptive study. Contraception. 2013;88(6):678-83.

99. Hunter DJ, Colditz GA, Hankinson SE, Malspeis S, Spiegelman D, Chen W, et al. Oral contraceptive use and breast cancer: a prospective study of young women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2010;19(10):2496-502.

100. Farley TM, Meirik O, Chang CL, Poulter NR. Combined oral contraceptives, smoking, and cardiovascular risk. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1998;52(12):775-85.

101. Vessey M, Painter R, Yeates D. Mortality in relation to oral contraceptive use and cigarette smoking. Lancet. 2003;362(9379):185-91.

102. Colditz GA. Oral contraceptive use and mortality during 12 years of follow-up: the Nurses' Health Study. Ann Intern Med. 1994;120(10):821-6.

103. Wijnhoven HAH, De Vet HCW, Smit HA, Picavet HSJ. Hormonal and reproductive factors are associated with chronic low back pain and chronic upper extremity pain in women - The MORGEN study. Spine. 2006;31(13):1496-502.

104. Chen Q, Jin Z, Xiang C, Cai Q, Shi W, He J. Absence of protective effect of oral contraceptive use on the development of rheumatoid arthritis: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Int J Rheum Dis. 2014;17(7):725-37.

105. von EE, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gotzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The
Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement:
guidelines for reporting observational studies. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2008;61(4):344-9.
106. Mantel N. Chi-square tests with one degree of freedom. Extensions of the Mantel-Haenszel procedure. J Am Stat Assoc1963. p. 690-700.

107. Kleinbaum DG, Kupper LL, Morgenstern H. Epidemiologic research: principles and quantitative methods. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold; 1982. xix, 529 p.

108. Remsberg KE, Demerath EW, Schubert CM, Chumlea WC, Sun SS, Siervogel RM. Early menarche and the development of cardiovascular disease risk factors in adolescent girls: the Fels Longitudinal Study. JClinEndocrinolMetab. 2005;90(5):2718-24.

109. Lakshman R, Forouhi NG, Sharp SJ, Luben R, Bingham SA, Khaw KT, et al. Early age at menarche associated with cardiovascular disease and mortality. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2009;94(12):4953-60.

110. Aegidius KL, Zwart JA, Hagen K, Dyb G, Holmen TL, Stovner LJ. Increased headache prevalence in female adolescents and adult women with early menarche. The Head-HUNT Studies. European Journal of Neurology. 2011;18(2):321-8.

111. Casey VA, Dwyer JT, Coleman KA, Krall EA, Gardner J, Valadian I. Accuracy of recall by middle-aged participants in a longitudinal study of their body size and indices of maturation earlier in life. Annals of Human Biology. 1991;18(2):155-66.

112. Bosetti C, Tavani A, Negri E, Trichopoulos D, La VC. Reliability of data on medical conditions, menstrual and reproductive history provided by hospital controls. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2001;54(9):902-6.

113. Cairns BJ, Liu B, Clennell S, Cooper R, Reeves GK, Beral V, et al. Lifetime body size and reproductive factors: comparisons of data recorded prospectively with self reports in middle age. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2011;11:7.

114. Cooper R, Blell M, Hardy R, Black S, Pollard TM, Wadsworth ME, et al. Validity of age at menarche self-reported in adulthood. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2006;60(11):993-7.

115. Smith MD, Russell A, Hodges PW. Is there a relationship between parity, pregnancy, back pain and incontinence? Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19(2):205-11.

116. Eriksen WB, Brage S, Bruusgaard D. Does smoking aggravate musculoskeletal pain? Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology. 1997;26(1):49-54.

117. Brage S, Bjerkedal T. Musculoskeletal pain and smoking in Norway. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 1996;50(2):166-9.

118. Kirkwood BR, Sterne JAC. Essential medical statistics. 2nd ed. ed. Malden: Blackwell; 2003.

119. Alkherayf F, Agbi C. Cigarette smoking and chronic low back pain in the adult population. ClinInvest Med. 2009;32(5):360-7.

120. Andersson HI, Ejlertsson G, Leden I. Widespread musculoskeletal chronic pain associated with smoking. An epidemiological study in a general rural population. Scandinavian Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine. 1998;30(3):185-91.

121. Pisinger C, Aadahl M, Toft U, Birke H, Zytphen-Adeler J, Jorgensen T. The association between active and passive smoking and frequent pain in a general population. European Journal of Pain. 2011;15(1):77-83.

122. Leino-Arjas P. Smoking and musculoskeletal disorders in the metal industry: a prospective study. Occupational & Environmental Medicine. 1998;55(12):828-33.

123. Leboeuf-Yde C. Does smoking cause low back pain? A review of the epidemiologic literature for causality. JManipulative Physiol Ther. 1995;18(4):237-43.

124. Leboeuf-Yde C, Kyvik KO, Bruun NH. Low back pain and lifestyle. Part I: Smoking. Information from a population-based sample of 29,424 twins. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1998;23(20):2207-13; discussion 14.

125. Aamodt AH, Stovner LJ, Hagen K, Brathen G, Zwart J. Headache prevalence related to smoking and alcohol use. The Head-HUNT Study. European Journal of Neurology. 2006;13(11):1233-8.
126. Holmen TL, Barrett-Connor E, Holmen J, Bjermer L. Health problems in teenage daily smokers versus nonsmokers, Norway, 1995-1997: the Nord-Trondelag Health Study. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2000;151(2):148-55.

127. Palmer KT, Syddall H, Cooper C, Coggon D. Smoking and musculoskeletal disorders: findings from a British national survey. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2003;62(1):33-6.

128. Shi Y, Weingarten TN, Mantilla CB, Hooten WM, Warner DO. Smoking and pain: pathophysiology and clinical implications. [Review]. Anesthesiology. 2010;113(4):977-92.

129. Huizink AC, Greaves-Lord K, Oldehinkel AJ, Ormel J, Verhulst FC. Hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis and smoking and drinking onset among adolescents: the longitudinal cohort TRacking Adolescents' Individual Lives Survey (TRAILS). Addiction. 2009;104(11):1927-36.

130. Crofford LJ. The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the pathogenesis of rheumatic diseases. EndocrinolMetab ClinNorth Am. 2002;31(1):1-13.

131. Andersson HI, Ejlertsson G, Leden I, Rosenberg C. Chronic pain in a geographically defined general population: studies of differences in age, gender, social class, and pain localization. Clin J Pain. 1993;9(3):174-82.

132. Hu Y, van Lenthe FJ, Borsboom GJ, Looman CW, Bopp M, Burstrom B, et al. Trends in socioeconomic inequalities in self-assessed health in 17 European countries between 1990 and 2010. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2016.

133. Saastamoinen P, Leino-Arjas P, Laaksonen M, Lahelma E. Socio-economic differences in the prevalence of acute, chronic and disabling chronic pain among ageing employees. Pain. 2005;114(3):364-71.

134. Jacobsen BK, Heuch I, Kvale G. Association of low age at menarche with increased all-cause mortality: A 37-year follow-up of 61,319 Norwegian women. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2007;166(12):1431-7.

135. Tamakoshi K, Yatsuya H, Tamakoshi A. Early age at menarche associated with increased allcause mortality. European Journal of Epidemiology. 2011;26(10):771-8.

Sohn K. Biological Standards of Living: Age at Menarche vs. Height. Ann Hum Biol. 2016:1-24.

137. Papadimitriou A. The evolution of the age at menarche from pre-historical to modern times. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2015.

138. Al-Sahab B, Ardern CI, Hamadeh MJ, Tamim H. Age at menarche in Canada: results from the National Longitudinal Survey of Children & Youth. BMC Public Health. 2010;10:736.

139. Anderson SE, Must A. Interpreting the Continued Decline in the Average Age at Menarche: Results from Two Nationally Representative Surveys of U.S. Girls Studied 10 Years Apart. The Journal of Pediatrics. 2005;147(6):753-60.

140. Ferry S, Hannaford P, Warskyj M, Lewis M, Croft P. Carpal tunnel syndrome: a nested casecontrol study of risk factors in women. Am J Epidemiol. 2000;151(6):566-74.

141. Hapidou EG, Rollman GB. Menstrual cycle modulation of tender points. Pain. 1998;77(2):151-61.

142. Wreje U, Isacsson D, Aberg H. Oral contraceptives and back pain in women in a Swedish community. International Journal of Epidemiology. 1997;26(1):71-4.

143. Vessey M, Painter R, Mant J. Oral contraception and other factors in relation to back disorders in women: findings in a large cohort study. Contraception. 1999;60(6):331-5.

144. Brynhildsen J, Lennartsson H, Klemetz M, Dahlquist P, Hedin B, Hammar M. Oral contraceptive use among female elite athletes and age-matched controls and its relation to low back pain. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 1997;76(9):873-8.

145. Croft P. The epidemiology of pain: the more you have, the more you get. Ann Rheum Dis. 1996;55(12):859-60.

146. Brynhildsen J, Ekblad S, Hammar M. Oral contraceptives and low back pain. Attitudes among physicians, midwives and physiotherapists. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 1995;74(9):714-7.

147. Fillingim RB, Ness TJ. Sex-related hormonal influences on pain and analgesic responses. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews. 2000;24(4):485-501.

148. Silberstein SD. Sex hormones and headache. RevNeurol(Paris). 2000;156 Suppl 4:4S30-4S41.

149. Dugan SA, Powell LH, Kravitz HM, Everson Rose SA, Karavolos K, Luborsky J.

Musculoskeletal pain and menopausal status. Clinical Journal of Pain. 2006;22(4):325-31.

150. Brynhildsen JO, Bjors E, Skarsgard C, Hammar ML. Is hormone replacement therapy a risk factor for low back pain among postmenopausal women? Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1998;23(7):809-13.

151. Boisseau N, Enea C, Diaz V, Dugue B, Corcuff JB, Duclos M. Oral contraception but not menstrual cycle phase is associated with increased free cortisol levels and low hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis reactivity. J Endocrinol Invest. 2013;36(11):955-64.

152. Holliday KL, Nicholl BI, Macfarlane GJ, Thomson W, Davies KA, McBeth J. Genetic variation in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal stress axis influences susceptibility to musculoskeletal pain: results from the EPIFUND study. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2010;69(3):556-60.

153. Magnusson K, Hagen KB, Natvig B. Individual and joint effects of risk factors for onset widespread pain and obesity - a population-based prospective cohort study. Eur J Pain. 2016.

154. Nicholl BI, Holliday KL, Macfarlane GJ, Thomson W, Davies KA, O'Neill TW, et al. Association of HTR2A polymorphisms with chronic widespread pain and the extent of musculoskeletal pain: results from two population-based cohorts. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(3):810-8.